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By the Chief, Enforcenent Bureau
l. | NTRODUCTI ON

1. In this Menorandum Opi ni on and Order, we grant in part
two formal conplaints, one filed by MCl Tel ecomuni cati ons
Corporation (""MClI'')1 and one by AT&T Corp. ( "~ AT&T' '), against
U S WEST Conmunications, Inc. (U S WEST' ')2 concerning US
WEST' s 1-800- 4USVEST service (the "~ "Service'').3 The Service
provides a calling platformthat pernmits US WEST's | oca
subscribers to place local and |long distance calls originating
i nside and outside the US WEST service area. Section 271 of the
Comuni cations Act of 1934, as amended (" "Act''), prohibits any
Bell Operating Conpany (" BOC ') -- including US WEST -- from
providing long distance (" interLATA ') service originating in
the region where it provides |local service, unless and until the
Conmi ssi on determ nes that various conditions relating to
conpetition in | ocal tel ephone service are satisfied.4 U S WEST
has not received Conm ssion approval to provide |ong distance
service in any state in its service region, and therefore is
subj ect to the general section 271 prohibition

2. The Commi ssion recently addressed the legality of a
simlar calling platformservice offered by another BOC, the
Aneritech Operating Conpanies (" "Aneritech''). 1In the 1-800-

AVERI TECH Order, the Conm ssion determ ned that Aneritech's
service violated section 271 of the Act.5 The Conm ssion relied
upon its earlier Qrmest Team ng Order to reach this conclusion. 6

3. The evidence in this case denonstrates that U S WEST' s
Service is, in all material respects, the same as Aneritech's
unl awful service. Specifically, like Areritech, U S WEST: (1)
desi gned and devel oped a conbined service offering for its |oca
service custoners that includes a |long di stance conponent; (2)
relied on its brand name in marketing the conbined offering; (3)
used bill inserts and other nmailings to pronote the conbi ned
offering to its local calling subscriber base; (4) nmaintained
control and ownership of the customer relationship in connection
with the conbined service offering; (5) exercised exclusive
control over the marketing of the Service; (6) selected the |ong
di stance provider that would carry in-region, interLATA calls and
dictated certain of the ternms and conditions of the Service; and
(7) reserved the right to substitute its own services in place of
the |l ong distance provider's service as U S WEST obt ai ned
authority under section 271 to provide |long distance service in
various states. Accordingly, we conclude, based on the totality
of circumstances, that U S WEST's 1-800-4USWEST Servi ce viol ates
section 271. Because we find that U S WEST's Service viol ates
section 271, we do not reach the remaining clains raised by AT&T
and MCl regarding other alleged violations of the Act.7

1. BACKGROUND

4, In April 1997, U S WEST began offering its 1-800-
AUSWVEST Service, which permts its subscribers to place |ocal,
I ong distance, and international calls fromanywhere in the
country by accessing a dialing platformthrough the Service's
toll-free nunber.8 U S WEST prompted the Service as a way for
its custonmers to make calling card calls from payphones wi t hout
payi ng excessive fees.9 Thus, the pronotional materials nmailed
to US WEST's | ocal -service custoners asserted that, by dialing
1- 800- 4USWEST, custoners could "~ bypass unknown pay phone
conpani es that can charge . . . exorbitant rates'' and instead
obtain a single ~"great lowrate'' for calling card calls,
i ncludi ng donmestic long distance calls.10 Simlarly, US WEST' s
advertisenents for the Service stated that, by using the Service,



callers could ensure that they would avoid having their calls
bl ocked from conpl etion. 11

5. A year earlier, US WEST sent a Request for Proposa
("T"RFP"") to long distance carriers, seeking in-region, interLATA
transport to support its new 1-800-4USWEST Service. 12 Anpng
ot her things, the RFP required the long distance carrier to allow
its calls to be listed on the bill that US WEST sent to its
custoners for U S WEST-provi ded services, and provi ded that
portions of the long distance provider's contract with U S WEST
woul d be termi nable on a state-by-state basis on 60 days' notice,
as U S WEST becane eligible in each state to offer in-region
i nt er LATA service under section 271.13 Fromthe responses that U
S WEST received, it chose Frontier Comrunications Services, Inc.
(""Frontier'')14 to carry the in-region, interLATA calls.15 The
RFP specifically contenplated that U S WEST could contract with
ot her long distance providers, and could utilize its own or its
affiliate's resources to provide simlar services. 16

6. U S WEST' s nane and trademark have been far nore
prom nently featured in advertisements pronoting the Service than
Frontier's. The toll-free nunber for the Service conspicuously
links US WEST's nane to the Service. Simlarly, the pronotiona
materials that US WEST mailed to its |ocal -service subscribers
highlight US WEST's nane and lo0go.17 Only in smaller type do
the materials identify the carriers that actually transmt the
calls, and, in many cases, the materials are not specific as to
whi ch carrier handl es which calls.18 Subsequently, U S WEST
changed the pronotional materials to state, usually in smal
print, that Frontier provides in-region, |ong distance
services. 19

7. When a custoner accesses the platformby dialing 1-800-
4USWEST, he or she hears a greeting referencing the U S WEST
nanme, and then receives a pronpt to enter the call ed nunber, the
calling card nunber, and a personal identification nunber. Once
the calling card nunmber is verified, a custonmer placing a |ocal
intraLATA toll, or out-of-region interLATA call hears ""[t]hank
you for using US WEST.''20 A custoner placing an in-region
i nter LATA call hears a thank-you nessage that mentions Frontier
by nane. 21

8. The Service is pronoted through, anong other neans,
bill inserts and other mailings sent to US WEST's |ocal custoner
base.22 U S WEST serves as the initial sales and custoner care
contact for the 1-800-4USWEST Service, and exercises exclusive
control over the marketing and pronotion of the Service.23 U S
WEST's agreenment with Frontier provides that U S WEST "~ owns and
creates all marketing comunications (card creation, creation
design, collateral, fulfillnment, nessages, etc.) as well as the
caller relationship.''24 The Service is billed through the
custoner's U S WEST nonthly service bill.25

[, DI SCUSSI ON
. A U S WEST's Service Violates Section 271
9. Conpl ai nants' primary contention is that the 1-800-

4AUSVEEST Service violates section 271 of the Act, because it
anounts to the provision of in-region, interLATA service before U
S WEST has received approval fromthe Comm ssion to offer such
service. Section 271(a) states that "~“[n]either a Bell operating
conpany nor any affiliate of a Bell operating conpany, may
provi de i nterLATA services except as provided in this
section.''26 The statute permits a BOC to provide interLATA
service originating within its local service area on a state-by-



state basis only upon application to and approval fromthe
Conmi ssi on pursuant to section 271(d).27 Section 271 thus "~ “both
gi ves the BOCs an opportunity to enter the |ong distance market
and conditions that opportunity on the BOCs' own actions in
opening up their local markets.''28 Congress intended section
271 to create a strong incentive for the BOCs to conply with new
obligations in sections 251 and 252 of the Tel ecommuni cati ons Act
of 1996, 29 which, in turn, were designed to facilitate
conpetition in | ocal markets (including interconnection,
unbundling, and resale). The statute creates this ~ powerfu
incentive'' by conditioning BOC entry into the in-region, |ong-
di stance market on conpliance with a checklist of |ocal market-
opening criteria and other requirenents. 30

10. U S WEST has not received approval fromthe Comm ssion
to provide |long distance service in any state in its region.31
It is therefore subject to section 271(a)'s general prohibition
agai nst offering such services. Conplainants' section 271 claim
presents the generic issue, previously addressed by the
Commi ssion in the Qwest Teami ng Oder (affirmed by the Court of
Appeal s) and the 1-800- AMERI TECH Order, of whether a chall enged
of fering for which a BOC does not actually transmt in-region
i nterLATA traffic may neverthel ess anount to the "~ provision' ' of
i nter LATA service. In the Quest Teami ng Order and the 1-800-
AMERI TECH Order - as in this case - the relevant BOCs were
of fering a conbined service that included their own |Iocal and
i ntraLATA toll service bundled with in-region, interLATA
transport provided by an unaffiliated |ong distance carrier

11. The Qmest Teami ng Order sets forth the issue that the
Conmi ssion considers in deciding whether an offering violates
section 271: "~ “whether a BOC s involvenent in the |Iong distance
mar ket enables it to obtain conpetitive advantages, thereby
reducing its incentive to cooperate in opening its |ocal narket
to conmpetition.''32 Thus, the “~“provision'' of interLATA
services, within the nmeaning of section 271(a), "~ nust enconpass
activities that, if otherw se permtted, would underm ne
Congress's nethod of pronoting both | ocal and | ong di stance
conpetition by prohibiting BOCs fromfull participation pursuant
to section 271's conpetitive checklist."'*33 1In order to
determ ne whether a BOC s |ong distance-related activities run
afoul of this standard, the Conm ssion bal ances the follow ng
non-excl usive factors: "~ “whether the BOC obtains materia
benefits (other than access charges) uniquely associated with the
ability to include a | ong-di stance conponent in [the chall enged
of fering], whether the BOC is effectively holding itself out as a
provi der of |ong distance service, and whether the BOC is
performng activities and functions that are typically perforned
by those who are legally or contractually responsible for
provi di ng interLATA service to the public.""34 1In evaluating the
chal I enged BOC actions, the Conmi ssion considers ~“the totality
of [the BOC s] involvenent, rather than focus[ing] on any one
particular activity.''35

12. The Conmission applied this fact-based test in the 1-
800- AMERI TECH Order and concl uded that Ameritech's service
viol ated section 271. The U S WEST Service at issue in this case
is substantially the sane as Aneritech's unlawful service.
Accordi ngly, as described below, application of the Qwmest Team ng
Order's fact-based test and the Conmi ssion's 1-800- AMERI TECH
Order simlarly leads us to conclude that the U S WEST Service
vi ol ates section 271. 36

I[11.A 1. US WEST Obtains Material Benefits Uniquely
Associated Wth Its Ability to Include a Long-
Di stance Conponent in the Service.



13. One of the principal factors that | ed the Comm ssion to
find section 271 violations in the Qvest Team ng Order and the 1-
800- AMERI TECH Order was that the challenged offerings would have
afforded the defendants a ~“significant junpstart when they do
obtain 271 authorization.''37 Thus, by devel opi ng an extensive
custoner base for the challenged services, the defendant carriers
could ““pre-position'' those custoners for a seamnless transition
to the long distance services of the carriers' section 272
affiliates, once the carriers received section 271 authority to
begi n providing in-region, interLATA service.

14. As with the arrangements in the Qwvest Team ng Order and
the 1-800- AMERI TECH Order, we find that the 1-800-4USWEST Service
permts US WEST to obtain material benefits uniquely associated
with the ability to include a |ong di stance conponent in the
Service. Specifically, the Service allows U S WEST, prior to
gai ning section 271 approval, to build up goodwi Il as a ful
service provider with its | ocal-service custonmers, who can pl ace
their long distance calling-card calls through the Service. 38
Upon receiving section 271 authority, U S WEST woul d be wel
positioned to substitute the interLATA service of its section 272
affiliate for that of Frontier, thereby capturing a ready base of
cust omers.

15. The opportunity to amass goodwill as a full service
provi der appears to be a significant reason why U S WEST
devel oped the Service in the first place. In announcing the

l aunch of the Service, US WEST's Chief Executive Oficer stated
that ““[i]ntroduction of this card represents another step toward
of fering our custoners one-stop shopping with complete,
integrated solutions to neet all their comruni cations needs.'' 39
U S WEST explained that its new calling card responded to
custoners' requests that U S WEST give thema way to nake | ong

di stance calls while away fromthe hone or office. The " one-

st op shopping'' advantage touted by U S WEST was repeated and
enphasi zed in several reports describing the new offering.40

16. Qur concern in this regard is heightened by the
structure of US WEST's agreenent with Frontier to provide in-
region, interLATA transm ssion for the Service. The Frontier
agreenent, nuch |like the agreenent in the 1-800-AVERI TECH Or der
provi des that US WEST may termnate the contract or any
orders for service nmade pursuant to the contract ~“for its
convenience'' at any tinme after the contract has been in effect
by giving Frontier 30 days' notice.41 This affords U S WEST the
right not only to contract with other |ong distance providers,
but to utilize its affiliates' resources to provide simlar
services.42 Thus, U S WEST preserved the right to repl ace
Frontier's services with the services of US WEST' s section 272
affiliate once the Conmm ssion grants U S WEST section 271
authorization.43 In doing so, U S WEST positioned itself wel
"“to substitute the long distance service offered by [its]
section 272 affiliate, when [it] obtain[s] section 271 approval,
into the [1-800-4USWEST] package in the future.''44

17. In the Qunest Teanmi ng Order and the 1-800- AVERI TECH
Order, we found that the challenged offerings allowed the
defendant carriers to ~“enhance [their] goodwi Il in the
mar ket pl ace'' and to " “add value'' when dealing with their
custoners in a way that further cemented their relationships with
their end users before their markets were open to neaningfu
conpetition.45 Here, it is apparent that U S WEST sought to
enhance its goodwill by controlling the custoner rel ationship
Specifically, the RFP provided that U S WEST " owns and creates
all marketing comruni cations (card creation, creation design



collateral, fulfillment, nmessages, etc.) as well as the custoner
relationship.'" 46 This requirenment was ultimately incorporated
into US WEST's contract with Frontier.47 Thus, U S WEST
controls the information sent to its customers concerning its
Service, as well as all other aspects of the relationship with
its custonmers.48 This provides U S WEST with a significant
conpetitive advantage in building goodwill with the 1-800-4USVEST
customers. We believe that once U S WEST receives Comi ssion
authorization to offer in-region, long distance service, the 1-
800- 4USWVEST custoners who receive | ocal service fromU S WEST
will be nore inclined to select US WEST as their presubscribed
| ong di stance carrier as well

18. Another troubling factor is the manner in which US
WEST pronotes the Service to its | ocal subscriber base. In
addition to advertising through various nmedia, U S WEST avails
itself of a communication channel that is uniquely available to
it as the nonopoly provider of |ocal service within its region -
bill inserts and other mailings that draw on its subscriber
list.49 Thus, U S WEST can advertise the Service to virtually
every subscriber on its network, and it can do so using a
customer database that is either unavail able, or available only
at a significant additional charge, to its conpetitors in the
| ocal service nmarket. Moreover, by using bill inserts, US WEST
can effectively pronote the Service at a fraction of what a
stand-al one mailing would cost one of its conpetitors, even
assum ng the conpetitor had access to U S WEST's subscri ber
mailing list. Use of a subscriber list, and the uni que benefits
it provides, is one of the factors the Commi ssion found
problematic in the 1-800- AMERI TECH Order. 50

19. In sum U S WEST's participation in the | ong distance
mar ket through its 1-800-4USWEST Service enables it to obtain
significant conpetitive advantages that are simlar to what the
Qnest Teaning Order found to be objectionable and al nost
identical to what the 1-800- AMERI TECH Order found to be
obj ectionable. The Service allows U S WEST to build goodwi I
with its | ocal -service custoners, depicting itself as a full-
service provider prior to receiving section 271 approval .

I ndeed, the full-service, or one-stop shopping, advantages

provi ded by the Service appear to have been U S WEST's primary
objective in inplenenting the Service in the first place.51 As
t he Commi ssion held in the 1-800- AMERI TECH Order, these
conpetitive advantages could reduce U S WEST's incentive to open
its local market to conpetition and, thus, run counter to
Congress's intent in enacting section 271.52

I[11.A.2. US WEST Is Effectively Holding Itself Qut As
a Provider of Long-Distance Service.

20. W also nust inquire whether US WEST is effectively
hol ding itself out to customers as a provider of |ong distance
services. |In the Qwest Team ng Order, the Conm ssion found that,
t hrough the chal |l enged services, the defendant carriers were
hol di ng thensel ves out in such a manner, because they had " taken
several specific steps to brand [the chall enged offerings] as
t heir exclusive conbined service offerings.''53 1In affirmng the
Commi ssion, the Court of Appeals agreed that, viewed as a whol e,
the chal | enged pronotional materials could | ead consuners to
believe that the BOCs were providing in-region |ong distance
service. 54

21. Simlarly, in the 1-800-AVERI TECH Order, we noted that
the use of the vanity 800 nunber55 was plainly calculated to
cause custoners to associate Aneritech with the services offered
t hrough the 1-800- AMERI TECH pl atform 56 Thus, the 800 numnber



al lowed Aneritech to link the service's |long distance offering
(as well as its other offerings) with the carrier's accumnul ated
custoner good will and its established reputation as a |oca
servi ce provider.57

22. In this case, US WEST virtually concedes that its
pronmoti onal and narketing materials may have caused in the m nds
of its custonmers the type of confusion that the Commi ssion and
Court of Appeals have found to be problematic.58 Specifically, U
S WEST acknow edges that sonme of its promptional naterials

"“m ght have created sone confusion in sone custoners,'' and that
““froma regul atory perspective, sone of the materials mght be
deened to have “gone over the line.'''59

23. Indeed, an examination of U S WEST's pronotiona

materials confirns that US WEST is holding itself out as a

provi der of |ong distance service. The materials promnently

di splay the U S WEST brand, creating the inpression that U S WEST
provi des all conponents of the Service, including |ong

di stance. 60 Oher statenents in the materials sinilarly foster
this inpression. For exanple, one advertisement features the US
VEST logo in large type and, in describing the Service, strongly
suggests that US WEST is the |long distance service provider. 61
Several other pronptional materials attest to the card's ability
to make all types of calls, including |long distance.62 The
promotional materials U S WEST used to introduce and market its
Service are strikingly simlar to those found to be troubl esone
and m sleading in the 1-800- AMERI TECH Order. 63

24. U S WEST argues that its 1-800-4USWEST custoners al ways
have a choice in selecting their |ong distance service provider
because they can dial 0+ to access another service provider. 64
Because this 0+ capability is disclosed on the back of its
calling card and on certain pronotional materials, US WEST
contends that it cannot obtain any benefit fromholding itself
out as the provider of |ong distance services.65 However, even
while disclosing in certain materials the availability of the 0+
option, U S WEST actively discourages its custoners from using
that option. Alnpst uniformy, U S WEST describes the 0+ option
as one that custoners shoul d never consider using in conparison
to dialing 1-800-4USWEST.66 U S WEST's repeated warnings that
dialing O+ " “doesn't work'' and that U S WEST cannot " protect’
custoners if they dial 0+ severely undercut US WEST's reliance
on its advertisenents' references to O+ capability. Moreover,
the references to 0O+ capability actually support our concl usion
that US WEST is unlawfully holding itself out as a |ong distance
service provider. By conparing the |long di stance services
provi ded by its 1-800-4USWEST Service to those furni shed by other
| ong di stance carriers through the 0+ option, US WEST inplicitly
suggests to its custoners that it is a |less expensive provider of
| ong di stance services. 67

25. U S WEST al so contends that the shortcomings inits
initial pronotional materials for the Service were renedi ed by
the promotional nmaterials it has used since Novenber 1997, which
speci fy that Frontier handles in-region, interLATA calls. 68
However, this is no different fromthe situation the Conm ssion
confronted in the 1-800- AMERI TECH Order. Although |ater
pronmoti onal materials in that case identified the supporting |ong
di stance provider who handl ed in-region, interLATA calls, they
usually did so in snmall type.69 1In this case, there also is a
proportional dissimlarity in type size between the U S WEST
brand nane and the Frontier brand nane.70 Moreover, the
di scl osures are generally relegated to an obscure portion of the
pronmoti onal materials.



26. U S WEST further asserts that in-region interLATA calls
are branded and billed as Frontier calls, which purportedly
confirms the distinction between U S WEST and Frontier and
el i mi nates any possi bl e customer confusion.71 W disagree.
Viewi ng the Service as a whole and the manner in which US WEST
pronotes it, we conclude that US WEST holds itself out as a |ong
di stance provider.72 The vanity access nunber all but ensures
that the offering, and all of its conponents, generally will be
perceived as a U S WEST-provi ded service. Furthernore, given the
prom nence of U S WEST's brand name on the pronotional materials,
the fact that U S WEST does not furnish the in-region, interLATA
transm ssion for the Service likely will be lost on all but a few
sophi sticated consuners.73 This is the case regardl ess of
whet her a custoner's nonthly U S WEST statenent identifies |ong
di stance calls as being carried by Frontier.74

I11.A 3. US WEST Perforns Activities Typically
Undert aken by Resell ers.

27. In determ ning whether US WEST perforns activities in
connection with its Service that are typically perforned by those
who resell interLATA service, we |ook to the degree of control U
S WEST exerci ses over marketing and the custoner relationship.75
Al t hough the facts of this case are slightly different than in
the 1-800- AMERI TECH Order, the degree of control U S WEST
exerci ses over the custoner relationship appears to be just as
significant.76 US WEST nade it clear in the RFP and the
resulting agreenent with Frontier that U S WEST woul d exerci se
excl usive control over nmessages provided to custoners and the
overall customer relationship.77 Wile Frontier apparently is
not prohibited fromresponding to certain custoner service
inquiries, it does so subject to US WEST's direction, as U S
WEST is contractually authorized to dictate how Frontier responds
to custoner inquiries and what nessages Frontier provides to
cust omers.

28. Simlarly, US WEST exercises exclusive control over
the marketing of the 1-800-4USWEST Service. As described above,
t he agreenent between U S WEST and Frontier provides that U S
WEST " "owns and creates all marketing comunications.'"'78
Further, the agreenent states that "~ Frontier does not have any
approval rights about any of the pronotional, advertising or
fulfillment packages,'' and that U S WEST, "“as a courtesy,
supplies Frontier with a copy of such materials.''79 Thus, US
WEST controls the right to narket and sell, under the 1-800-
AUSVEEST nane, not only its own |local and intraLATA toll services,
but Frontier's |long distance services as well.80

29. U S WEST's exercise of exclusive control over customer
relations and marketing denonstrates that U S WEST was
significantly involved in the design and devel opnent of the |ong
di stance conponent of its 1-800-4USWEST Service. The fact that U
S WEST coul d insist on such requirenents, select a | ong distance
provi der who woul d accept the requirenents without nodification
and reject those who would not, is a testament to U S WEST' s
control over the design of the Service.81 For these reasons, we
conclude that U S WEST is engaged in activities typically
performed by resellers. 82

I11.A 4. Concl usion

30. Based on the totality of the circumstances, we concl ude
that, through the 1-800-4USWEST service, U S WEST is "providing"
i n-region, interLATA service in violation of section 271. First,
the Service affords U S WEST material benefits uniquely
associated with the inclusion of [ong distance service in the



offering. Specifically, it permts US WEST to accunul ate a
significant base of customers who rely on the Service, and it
enables U S WEST to amass goodwi Il as a full-service provider
with its local service custoners. Second, through the Service
and the many associ ated pronotional materials that prom nently
bear U S WEST's brand, the carrier essentially holds itself out
as providing long distance service. Finally, in connection with
the Service, U S WEST controls nunerous functions, including

mar keti ng and custoner care, that are typically perfornmed by a
reseller of long distance service. All of these factors |ead us
to conclude that US WEST is "~“providing'' in-region, interLATA
service in violation of section 271

|.B. We Reject US WEST's Argunents Regardi ng Renedi es.

31. U S WEST devotes nuch of its supplenmental briefing to
remedy-rel ated argunents, contending, first, that the
Commi ssion's alleged delay in ruling on liability renders any
damages award inappropriate. According to U S WEST, until a
ruling in this case, the state of the |law regarding the legality
of its Service was unclear.83 W disagree, but note that we need
not deci de damages at this tinme. W will address damages when,
and if, conplainants file supplenental conplaints for damages.

32. Second, U S WEST attenpts to expand the scope of this
proceedi ng by argui ng that proposed marketing and pronotiona
changes to its Service convert the Service into a | awful
offering.84 W decline US WEST's invitation to issue a
declaratory ruling regarding its prospective conduct. Qur task
in this section 208 conplaint proceeding is to adjudicate the
| awf ul ness of prior or current conduct and not to opine on the
| awf ul ness of hypothetical or future conduct. However, U S WEST
is free to file a Petition for Declaratory Ruling requesting an
opinion as to the | awful ness of proposed changes to its Service.

I.C We Need Not and Do Not Reach Conpl ai nants' O her
C ai ns.
33. In addition to their section 271 cl ainms, conplainants

argue that: (1) the 1-800-4USWEST service ampunts to an
unreasonabl e practice, in violation of section 201(b); (2) US
WEST excl uded conpl ai nants in a discrimnatory manner from

provi ding transport services to support the Service, in violation
of section 202(a); (3) the structure of the Service contravenes

U S WEST's equal access obligations, in violation of section
251(g); and (4) by holding out itself as a provider of in-region
i nter LATA services prior to receiving authorization under section
271, U S VEST has circunmvented separate affiliate safeguards, in
violation of section 272. Because we find that U S WEST vi ol at ed
section 271, we need not and do not reach conplai nants' cl ains

al | egi ng other violations of the Comuni cati ons Act. 85

V. CONCLUSI ON

34. We find that US WEST, through its 1-800-4USVEST
Service, is providing in-region, interLATA services wthout
aut horization, in violation of section 271 of the Act. W do not
reach other statutory clainms raised by conplai nants.

V. ORDERI NG CLAUSES

35. Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED, pursuant to sections 1
4(i), 4(j), 208, and 271 of Act, as anmended, 47 U.S.C. 8§ 151
154(i), 154(j), 208, and 271, that the Formal Conplaints filed by
MCI Tel ecommuni cati ons Corporation and AT&T Corporation ARE
GRANTED to the extent that they allege that the 1-800-4USWEST



Service violates section 271 of the Act.

FEDERAL COVMUNI CATI ONS COWM SSI ON

David H. Sol onon
Chi ef, Enforcenent Bureau

1 Ef fective Septenber 14, 1998, MCl Tel econmuni cations Corp
merged with WorldCom Inc. to form MI WrldCom |Inc. Thi s
Order uses ""MClI'' to refer to the conplainant in File No. E-97-
40A.

2 On June 30, 2000, U S WEST nerged with Qwmest Corporation
(" Qnest''), and Qwest is now the |egal successor to US WEST.
This Order refers to the def endant conpany in the t wo
proceedings as ~ U S WEST.'

3 Pursuant to section 1.735(a) of the Commission's formal
conplaint rules (47 CF.R 8§ 1.735(a)), we have consolidated
AT&T's and MClI's actions against U S WEST, because the US WEST
Service challenged in both actions is identical

4 47 U.S.C. § 271(a) ( "Neither a Bell operating conmpany, nor
any affiliate of a Bell operating conpany, may provide interLATA
services except as provided in this section.''). I nt er LATA
service "~ means tel ecommunications between a point located in a
| ocal access transport area [LATA] and a point |ocated outside
such area.'’ 47 U S.C. § 153(21). LATAs are contiguous
geographi c areas established by a BOC such that no exchange area
i ncludes points within nmore than one netropolitan statistica

area or state. 47 U S.C § 153(25).

5 See MCI Tel ecomruni cations Corp. v. Illinois Bell Tel. Co.,
et al., Menorandum Opi nion and Oder, 15 FCC Rcd 23184 (2000)
(° " 1-800- AMERI TECH Order'').

6 See AT&T Corp. v. US MWEST Corp., 13 FCC Rcd 21438 (1998)
(" Qnest Teani ng Order''), aff'd sub nom, U S WEST
Communi cations, Inc. v. FCC, 177 F.3d 1057 (D.C. Cir. 1999),
cert. denied, 120 S. Ct. 1240 (2000). In the Qwest Team ng
Order, the Conmi ssion found that a self-described °team ng'

arrangenent between U S WEST and Qwest (and a simlar
arrangenent between Ameritech and Qwest) violated section 271

U S WEST combined Qvest's |long distance service with its own
| ocal services and offered the resulting package to U S WEST
custoners under a US WEST brand, with U S WEST custoner
support. As noted above, U S WEST subsequently nerged into

Qnest .

7 In addition to section 271, AT&T contends that US WEST' s
Service violates sections 202, 251(g), and 272 of the Act.
Conpl ai nt of AT&T Corp., File No. E-97-28 (May 22, 1997) (" AT&T
Conplaint'') at 9-10 (citing 47 U.S.C. 8§ 202, 251(g), and 272).
MCl argues that US WEST's Service violates section 201(b), as
wel | as section 271. Conplaint of MCI Tel econmuni cations, Inc.
File No. E-97-40 (July 21, 1997) (" "MCl Conplaint'') at 7-10
(citing 47 U.S.C. § 201(h)).

8 See Answer of U S WEST Conmuni cations, Inc., File No. E-97-
28 (June 23, 1997) (" "U S WEST Answer in AT&T Case'') at 12-13,
MM 49-50, and Attachment 9.



9 MCl  Conpl ai nt, Exhibit B.
10 I d.

11 Id.; see Letter dated Jan. 25, 1999 from Robert B. MKenna
(counsel for U S WEST) to Tonya Rutherford (Attorney-Advisor
FCC), File Nos. E 97-28 and E-97-40 (U S WEST January 25, 1999
Letter''), Attachnents.

12 U S VWEST Answer in AT&T Case, Attachnent 11
13 Id. (RFP at 9).

14 Frontier has since nerged w th d obal Crossing Ltd. Thi s
Order refers to the conpany as "~ Frontier.'

15 U S WEST Answer in AT&T Case at 19, 1 69. U S WEST itself
is the carrier for both |ocal and intraLATA calls for its 1-800-
AUSWEST Servi ce. Id. at 13-15, § 51. U S WEST's interLATA
affiliate, US WEST Long Distance, Inc., carries the interLATA
calls originating outside U S WEST's region (out-of-region

i nter LATA traffic). Id. Section 271(b) permits a BOC, upon
passage of the Telecomrunications Act of 1996, to provide
interLATA calls originating outside of its |ocal service

territory through a structurally separate affiliate. 47 U S.C
8§ 271(b), 272.

16 U S VST Answer in AT&T Case, Attachnent 11 (RFP at 9).

17 MCI Conpl aint, Exhibit B. Thus, the materials enphasize
the U S WEST brand as the source for the services provided wth

the calling card: ~“use the 1-800-4USWEST Calling Card to nmke
| ocal calls, long distance calls, international calls. . . ."'
MCI Conpl aint at Exhibit B; "~ Introducing 1-800-4USWEST. Al

your calls with just one card.'' U S WEST Answer in AT&T Case,

Attachnent 9; "“U S WEST has introduced the U S WEST Express
Calling Card, which allows users to place donestic |ong distance
calls anytinme from anywhere in the United States for just 20

cents a mnute.'' AT&T Conplaint, Exhibit K, " Because 1-800-
4AUSVEEST gi ves you a low 20-cents-per-mnute rate on every cal

you make when you're away fromhonme. |It's a better rate than
those charged by our |long distance conpetitors.'' U S WEST

Answer in AT&T Case, Attachnent 8 (enphasis added).

18 See, e.g., MC Complaint, Exhibit B (" '[Clalls nade via 1-
800- 4USVEST wi || be handl ed by U S WEST Communi cations, U S WEST

Long Di stance or Frontier. Call Custoner Service for nore
details.''). Mbreover, in some instances, no nmention is made of
Frontier at all. See, e.g., Letter dated Sept. 30, 1997 from

Peter H  Jacoby (counsel for AT&T) to Deena M Shet | er
(Attorney-Advisor, FCC), File No. E-97-28, attaching U S WEST

brochure entitled ~  Small Busi ness CGuide to Conmunications
Services.'' On a page entitled ~"U S WEST Conpl enentary Long
Di stance Services,'' the 1-800-4USWEST card is described as
““the sinple way to neke |ong distance calls when you're away
fromthe office."’ Id. at 23. The brochure fails to nention

Frontier or its role in providing |ong distance service.
19 U S WEST January 25, 1999 Letter, Attachnents.

20 US WEST Responses to Ml's First and Further Set of
Interrogatories, File No. E-97-40 (Cct. 3, 1997) (U S WEST
October 3, 1997 Interrogatory Responses'') at 20-21

21 I d.



22 Id. at 3-6.

23 See Suppl emental Responses of U S WEST to AT&T's First Set
of Interrogatories, File No. E-97-28 (Aug. 22, 1997) (" U S WEST
August 22, 1997 Supplenental Interrogatory Responses'') at 22,
28.

24 U S WEST August 22, 1997 Suppl enental I nterrogatory
Responses at 28. U S WEST identified several related agreenents
involving its Service that US WEST, US WEST's affiliate (U S
WEST Long Di stance), Frontier, and Frontier's affiliate (LinkUSA
Corporation ( "LinkUSA ')) executed. Id. at 3-28. This Order
refers to these agreenents collectively as one agreement between
U S VEEST and Frontier.

25 Stipulation of Undi sputed Facts, File No. E-97-28 (Sept. 9,
1997) (" " Stipulation of Undisputed Facts'') at 1, 7 1

26 47 U.S.C. § 271(a).
27 47 U.S.C. § 271(d).
28 U S WEST Communi cations, 177 F.3d at 1060.

29 See 47 U.S.C. 88 251, 252. The Tel ecommuni cati ons Act of
1996, Pub. L. No. 104-104, 110 Stat. 56, codified at 47 U. S.C.
88 151 et seq., anended the Communi cations Act of 1934.

30 U S WEST Comuni cations, 177 F.3d at 1060; 47 U.S.C. §
271(c). See also AT&T Corp. v. FCC, 220 F.3d 607, 612 (D.C
Cir. 2000) (conditional |ong distance entry pursuant to section
271 is designed “"[t]o encourage BOCs to open their markets to
conpetition as quickly as possible "). The Commi ssion's
decision in the Qwest Teanming Order contains a nore extensive
expl anation of the market-opening incentives behind section 271
13 FCC Rcd at 21441-47, 11 3-7.

31 Suppl emrental Brief of WrldCom Inc., File No. E-97-40A
(Dec. 8, 2000) at 5; Stipulation of Undisputed Facts at 2, T 4.
U S VEEST has not requested authorization fromthe Comm ssion to
provi de | ong di stance service in any state in its region.

32 Qunest Teanming Order, 13 FCC Rcd at 21465, 1 37.

33 Id. at 21462, T 30.

34 Id. at 21465-66, 1 37.

35 I d.

36 US WEST argues that the 1-800-AMERITECH Order is not
rel evant precedent, and encourages the Conmission to rely
i nstead upon the Conmon Carrier Bureau's decision involving

Bel | South's pre-paid calling card. See AT&T Corp. v. Bell South
Corp., Menorandum Opi nion and Order, 14 FCC Rcd 8515 (Com Car

Bur. Mar. 30, 1999). We decline to do so; reliance on the
staff-level pre-paid calling card decision would be misplaced in
t hese circumst ances. The Bel |l South pre-paid calling card is

meani ngfully different than the offerings at issue in the 1-800-
AMERI TECH Order and in this case. As the Conmi ssion pointed out
in the 1-800-AMERI TECH Order, the Common Carrier Bur eau
determined that Bell South's pre-paid card offering did not

viol ate section 271 because, inter alia, (1) the card did not
involve a continuing, presubscribed relationship that would
allow BellSouth to gain neaningful information about card

purchasers and to exploit that relationship in cust oner



retention or win-back efforts; and (2) the card served a segnment
of the tel ecomrunications market that is replete with simlar
prepaid offerings sponsored by non-carriers, thereby reducing
the risk that consuners woul d perceive Bell South as offering in-
regi on, interLATA services. 1d. at 8525-28, 1Y 19-27. In light
of these differences, the Bell South pre-paid card case does not
support a conclusion in this case that US WEST's Servi ce passes
nmust er under section 271. Rather, as explained below, this case
is controlled by the Commi ssion's 1-800-AMERI TECH Order
Simlarly, we reject US WEST' s contention that its Service is
not neaningfully different than calling card offerings that were
| awf ul under the Mdified Final Judgnent. QAEST Cor poration
Suppl emental Opening Brief on the Relevance of the AMERI TECH
Calling Card Order, File No. E-97-28 (Dec. 8, 2000) (""US WEST
Brief re Applicability of Ameritech in AT&T Case'') at 2-4, 12-
14. The Conmi ssion addressed and rejected this same contention
in the 1-800- AMERI TECH Order. 1-800-AMERI TECH Order, 15 FCC Rcd
at __, 1 22.

37 Qnest Teaming Order, 13 FCC Rcd. at 21467, T 41 (interna
quotation omitted).

38 See U S MWEST Conmmunications, 177 F.3d at 1060 ( "By
of fering one-stop shopping for 1local and |ong distance under
their own brand nane and with their own customer care . . . [the
BOCs] <could build up goodwill as full service providers,
positioning thenselves in these nmarkets before section 271
allows them actually to enter."').

39 AT&T Conpl aint, Exhibit K (enphasis added).

40 AT&T Conpl aint, Exhibits G |, and J. Further, US WEST
enphasized in a late 1996 filing to the lowa Uilities Board
that its calling card Service was " “essential for US WEST s
effective participation in the |long distance nmrket."'' Id.,
Exhibit H  These cont enporaneous representations concerning the
one-stop shoppi ng advantage U S MWEST sought to gain with its
Service severely undercut U S WEST's current contention that it
was not seeking a " junpstart.'' See U S WEST Brief re
Applicability of Ameritech in AT&T Case at 9, 11-14. U S WEST's
argunent is also belied by an independent industry analysis
whi ch concludes that BOC calling card services, |ike US WEST's,
are targeted to ~junpstarting'' the BOC s entry into the |ong-
di stance narket. See Yankee Group Report, Exhibit 1 to AT&T's
Reply Brief Concerning Effect of QWNEST Order, File No. E-97-28
(Feb. 12, 1999), at 21 (BOCs are "“using calling card platforms
in preparation for authorization for in-region |ong-distance
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di stance, nultiple service provider'').

41 U S WEST August 22, 1997 Suppl enental I nterrogatory
Responses at 15.

42 See U S WEST Answer in AT&T Case, Attachment 11 (RFP at 9);
U S WEST August 22, 1997 Suppl emental Interrogatory Responses at
15, 18.

43 The RFP provi des additional evidence that U S WEST i nt ended
the Service to afford a considerable junpstart for its in-
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authority in each state. For exanple, pursuant to the RFP, U S
WEST could cancel the portion of the contract concerning
Frontier's provision of in-region interLATA service on 60 days

notice, and could effect such a cancellation on a state-by-state
basis. U S WEST Answer in AT&T Case, Attachnent 11 (RFP at 9).



Thus, the RFP expressly contenplated that U S WEST qui ckly woul d
nove, on a state-by-state basis, to substitute its section 272
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44 Qnest Team ng Order, 13 FCC Rcd at 21467, T 41. See also U
S WEST Communi cations, 177 F.3d at 1060.

45 Quvest Teanming Oder, 13 FCC Rcd at 21468, ¢ 42; 1-800-
AMERI TECH Order, 15 FCC Rcd at ___, T 14.

46 US WEST Answer in AT&T Case, Attachnent 11 (RFP at 10)
(enmphasi s added).

47 U S WEST August 22, 1997 Suppl enent al I nterrogatory
Responses at 28.
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49 U S WEST COctober 3, 1997 Interrogatory Responses at 3-6.
50 1- 800- AMERI TECH Order, 15 FCC Rcd at ___, 1 15.
51 See, supra, at T 15
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65 I d.
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79 Id. at 22.

80 The parties have not identified any instances in which
Fronti er engaged in independent marketing, sales, or pronotiona
activities in connection with the 1-800-4USWEST Servi ce.
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